I.   STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 1 ,   2013,  Kevin Anderson  ( Anderson)   submitted

a public records request to the Division of Child Support

DCS )   seeking records related to his own support case,

records related to the DCS employee who handled his support

case,  and records related to DCS '   service of process

practices.     CP 2  [ Complaint,   14. 1 ] .    DCS responded and,

eventually,  produced a redacted copy of Anderson' s case-

comment printout and entirely withheld a specifically re-

quested e- mail between DCS and the King County Prosecutor' s

Office,  which pertained to .Anderson' s support case.    CP 4

Complaint,   114. 4] .    Twice,  Anderson administratively

appealed DCS '   withholdings.     CP 4 and 6   [ Complaint,   ¶ ' s

4. 5 and 4. 8] .     The first appeal was summarily denied,   and

the request was closed;  however,   in an effort to obtain

his requested records,  Anderson filed a second appeal,

but,  despite promising to do so,  DCS did not conduct a

second review until months after Anderson had filed suit.

CP 6  [ Complaint,   114. 9] .    Eventually,  DCS denied the second

appeal as well.

On May 30,   2014,   after DCS denied Anderson' s admin-

istrative appeal,  closed his request,  and refused to produce

requested public records,  Anderson filed suit and alleged

DCS had violated the Public Records Act   (PRA)  by denying
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him an opportunity to inspect public records and by with-

holding non- exempt public records from his requested in-

spection.     CP 8- 9  [ Complaint,   ff ' s 5. 5- 5. 6 ] .    Through dis-

covery,  Anderson asked DCS about the redactions it had

applied to his requested case- comment printout.    CP 70

Fifth Declaration of Kevin Anderson,  no.   7] .

On February 2,   2015,  Anderson motioned for an order

to show cause regarding his case- comment printout and DCS'

redactions applied thereto.    CP 11 - 12.    Anderson argued,

because DCS had cited multiple authorities for each re-

daction,  he could not link any single redaction to a corres-

ponding claim of exemption;   thus,  he could not assess the

validity of DCS '   withholdings,   and DCS had violated the

PRA.

On February 6,   2015,  after receiving Anderson' s dis-

covery on the case- comment printout and his show- cause

motion,  but eight months after Anderson filed suit,  DCS,

proving the invalidity of,   at least,   some of its redactions,

voluntarily produced a  " revised"  case- comment printout

in which more information was released through DCS '   removal

of many of the original redactions :  For the first time,

DCS released garnishment information found in Anderson' s

case- comment printout,  related to his support case.     CP

70  [ Fifth Declaration of Kevin Anderson,  no.   8] .
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On February 13,   2015,  DCS responded to Anderson' s

show- cause motion by cross- motioning for partial summary

judgment on the case- comment printout.    CP 35- 47.    DCS

argued the entire printout,  which,   at this time,  had been

twice produced in response to Anderson' s public records

request,  should be categorically exempted from Anderson' s

requested inspection pursuant to RCW 26. 23. 120.

On February 27,   2015,   the trial court heard both

parties '   motions.    VRP 1 - 16.    Anderson demonstrated that

the information released through DCS '   production of the

revised case- comment printout was,   in fact,  garnishment

information related to his support case,  and contrary to

DCS '   argument for categorical exemption,  DCS admitted,

through discovery,  RCW 26 . 23. 120 does NOT exempt this infor-

mation,   from Anderson,  and there is no authority that

authorizes DCS to withhold this information from Anderson' s

requested inspection.    On the record,  DCS conceded that

the revised case- comment printout was necessary because

portions of the originally provided printout were improperly

withheld.    VRP 12.    Despite this,   the trial court denied

Anderson' s show- cause motion;  additionally,  however,   the

court denied DCS '  motion for partial summary judgment.

VRP 13- 14.
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Furthermore,  regarding the e- mail Anderson requested

and DCS entirely withheld,  after DCS had denied Anderson' s

administrative appeal of DCS '  decision to entirely withhold

the e- mail   (CP 5  [ Complaint,   ¶4. 7] )  and after Anderson

had filed suit,  he contacted DCS '   Counsel,   the Attorney

General ' s Office,  and requested Counsel review DCS '  with-

holding.    On January 23,   2015,  Counsel notified Anderson

that DCS '   entirely withholding the requested e- mail was

correct,  so,  on March 1 ,   2015,  Anderson submitted a

discovery request related to the e- mail.    CP 68- 69   [ Fifth

Declaration of Kevin Anderson,  no.   3] .    By this time,

Anderson had repeatedly notified DCS that its identification

of  " Washington prosecutor"  as the purported author of the

e- mail must be incorrect as no such person or office exists,

so,  at a minimum,  DCS should properly identify the author

of the e- mail;  additionally,  given that the e- mail was

written about Anderson' s support case,  and,  by DCS °   own

admissions,  Anderson is  "entitled"  to his support records,

DCS should produce the e- mail;   finally,  given that DCS

has revealed the contents of the e- mail in Anderson' s case-

comment printout,  which is an admitted public record,   seen

by non- attorneys,  DCS has waived any claim of attorney-

client privilege,  and DCS should,  again,  produce the e- mail
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On March 6,   2015,   similar to its response after re-

ceiving discovery on the case- comment printout,  DCS

voluntarily released the previously withheld e- mail days

after receiving Anderson' s discovery requests regarding

the e- mail.    CP 69   [ Fifth Declaration of Kevin Anderson,

no.   5] .

On April 8,   2015,  without addressing either its

February 6,   2015 production of the revised case- comment

printout in which admittedly improper redactions were re

moved,  or its March 6,   2015 production of the previously

withheld e- mail,  DCS,  again,  motioned for summary judgment

based on the same argument as before:  Anderson' s support

records are categorically exempted from disclosure,   to

himself,  pursuant to RCW 26. 23 . 120;   the provision DCS admits

does not apply to the information being withheld in this

case.    In response,  Anderson argued DCS '   production of

the e- mail,  which had been claimed exempt under the

attorney- client privilege and not RCW 26. 23 . 120,  defeats

summary judgment.    CP 60- 67.    Anderson filed a declaration

and attached all the records DCS had produced subsequent

to Anderson' s lawsuit.    CP 68- 132 .    Finally,  based on DCS '

productions of requested,  admittedly non- exempt public

records after he filed suit,  Anderson motioned to amend

his complaint to more accurately reflect the facts of the
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case and to narrow the issues before the Court.

On May 11 ,   2015,  without oral argument,   the trial

court granted DCS '  motion for summary judgment:  The Court

erroneously determined that Anderson' s own case- comment

printout,  which,  by this time,  had been twice produced

in response to Anderson' s public records request and

submitted,  by DCS,   in this open- court proceeding,   is cat-

egorically exempted from public disclosure;   also,   the Court

erroneously determined that the e- mail,  which had also

been produced,  by this time,   is also entirely exempt.

From the Court' s order,   the Court apparently failed to

consider Anderson' s uncontested declaration and evidence

submitted in opposition to summary judgment.    CP 57- 59 .

On May 18,   2015,  Anderson motioned for reconsideration

of the Court ' s decision based on the Court ' s apparent

failure to consider his filed,   served,  and unchallenged

evidence.     CP 133- 136 .

On May 27,   2015,   the Court summarily denied recon-

sideration and refused to acknowledge having considered

Anderson' s evidence.    CP 137 .

On June 3,   2015,  Anderson appealed.    CP 138- 143.
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II.  ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1 .      The trial court erred in denying Anderson' s motion

to show cause.

2.      The trial court erred in granting DCS summary

judgment.

3.      The trial court erred in refusing to acknowledge

having considered Anderson' s not- objected- to evidence.

III.   ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1 .      Does DCS '   citing multiple authorities for in-

dividual redactions made to Anderson' s case- comment printout

violate the PRA,  and if so,  does DCS '   revised case- comment

printout remedy this violation?   (Assignments of Error No.

1 and 2)

2.      Does DCS '  redacting garnishment information,

which it admits is not exempt and was improperly withheld,

from Anderson' s case- comment printout violate the PRA?

Assignments of Error No.   1 and 2)

3.      Does DCS '   entire withholding of Anderson' s re-

quested e- mail,  until after he filed suit,  violate the

PRA?   ( Assignment of Error No.   2)
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4.      Based on DCS '   two productions of admittedly

requested,  non- exempt public records subsequent to

Anderson' s lawsuit,  must Anderson be deemed the prevailing

party?   (Assignments of Error No.   1 and 2)

5.      Does RCW 26. 23. 120 categorically exempt Anderson' s

support records from disclosure,   to himself?   (Assignment

of Error No.   2)

6.      Didthe trial court abuse its discretion by

refusing to consider Anderson' s not- objected- to evidence

submitted in opposition to DOS '   motion for summary judgment?

Assignment of Error No.   3 )

IV.   SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Despite having twice produced admittedly requested,

non- exempt public records in response to Anderson' s lawsuit,

DCS was granted summary judgment based on an illogical,

contrived legal theory:  RCW 26. 23 . 120,   the provision DCS

admits does  " entitles"  Anderson to his own support records

and does not apply to the actual information withheld in

this case,   categorically exempts Anderson' s records from

his requested inspection.

Anderson will show that DOS '   response to his public

records request violates the PRA.    Also,   fully expecting
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DCS to,  again,   argue how hypothetically confidential some

unnamed and totally irrelevant records may or may not be,

Anderson will show that RCW 26 . 23. 120,  the provision that

does not categorically exempt records,  but authorizes the

Department of Social and Health Services   (DSHS )   to

promulgate rules,  with the PRA' s redaction requirement

in mind,   which must allow for the subject of the records

to access his or her own records,   cannot be used to bar

Anderson from obtaining his own support records.

V.  ARGUMENT

A.       STANDARD OF REVIEW

Under the PRA,   courts review challenges to agency

actions de novo.    City of Federal Way v.  Koenig,   167 Wn. 2d

341 ,   217 P. 3d 1172   ( 2009) .     Where a trial court bases its

decision regarding whether or not an agency ha.3 violated

the PRA solely upon documentary evidence,  without live

testimony,   the appellate court engages in de novo review

of violations.    Ames v.  City of Fircrest,   71 Wn. App.   284,

857 P. 2d 1083   ( Div.   II,   1993 ) .    When a PRA case is decided

on summary judgment,  the appellate court stands in the

same position as the trial court.    West v.  Dept.  of

Licensing,   182 Wn. App.   500,   331 P. 3d 72  ( Div.   I,   2014 ) .
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Finally,  a defendant should only be granted summary judgment

when a plaintiff fails to produce sufficient evidence

of an essential element of his or her case;   that failure

renders all other facts immaterial ."    Pope v.  Douglas County

PUD No.   1 ,   158 Wn. App.  23,   241 P. 3d 797,   800   ( Div.   III,

2010 ) .

B.      DCS '  RESPONSE TO ANDERSON' S REQUEST VIOLATES THE PRA.

1 .      DCS '   Citing Multiple Authorities For Individual
Redactions It Applied To Anderson' s Requested

Case- Comment Printout Violates The PRA.

In response to Anderson' s request for a copy of the

case- comment printout from his support case,  DCS produced

a 19- page document,  which contained redactions throughout.

CP 13  [ First Declaration of Kevin Anderson,   no.   2] .     Pur-

portedly to explain the redactions,  DCS provided Anderson

with a 1 - page  " Common Redactions and to  [ sic]   Division

of Child Support Case File Records"   ( list of redactions) .

CP 14   [ First Declaration of Kevin Anderson,  no.   3 ] .    The

list of redactions consists of eleven enumerated sections

with each section citing multiple authorities:  Where DCS

redacted a portion of the printout,   it referenced one or

more sections from the list of redactions.

Under the PRA,   an agency must identify a specific

claim of exemption for each redaction it applies to a public
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record;   in addition,   it must explain how the exemption

applies to the information being withheld.    RCW 42. 56. 210( 3 )

provides:

Agency responses refusing,   in whole or in part,

inspection of any public record shall include a
statement of the specific exemption authorizing the
withholding of the record   (or part)  and a brief ex-

planation of how the exemption applies to the record
withheld.

DCS '   failure to connect each redaction to a specific

claim of exemption left Anderson and the Court with no

way to assess the validity of the redaction;   this failure

violates the PRA:  City of Lakewood v.  Koenig,   182 Wn. 2d

87,   343 P. 3d 335   ( 2014 )   ( Under the PRA,   it is improper

and a violation for an agency to shift its burden onto

a requestor by citing multiple claims of exemption,   for

a withholding,  and leaving the requestor to sift through

the statutes in an attempt to determine which,   if any,

apply) ;   see also,  Gronquist v.  Washington State Dept.  of

Licensing,   175 Wn. App.   729,   309 P. 3d 538   ( Div.   II,   2013 )

An agency' s withholding of a public record or a portion

of a public record without providing the required link

to a specific claim of exemption violates the PRA) .

Here,  all the essential elements are admitted- to

verities:   ( 1 )  DCS is an  " agency"  as defined in the PRA,
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as such,   it is subject to requirements thereof   (CP 2

Complaint,   53. 21 ) ;   ( 2)  Anderson requested a copy of his

case- comment printout in his July 1 ,   2013 public records

request   (CP 70   [ Fifth Declaration of Kevin Anderson,  no. 7,

Request for Admission,  no.   4] ) ;   ( 3 )  Anderson' s requested

case- comment printout is a public record  ( CP 70   [ Fifth

Declaration of Kevin Anderson,  no.   7,  Request for Admission,

no.   6] ) ;   and  ( 4 )  DCS cited multiple statutes for individual

redactions it made to Anderson' s requested case- comment

printout  (CP 70   [ Fifth Declaration of Kevin Anderson,  no.   7,

Request for Admission,  no.   18] ) .    And DCS'   revised printout,

produced as a result of this lawsuit,  does not remedy this

violation.

Initially,  DCS redacted portions of the printout by

referencing  " 1 , 2"  from the list of redactions.    CP 13   [ First

Declaration of Kevin Anderson,  no.   2,  case- comment printout,

pg.   11 ] .     In the list of redactions,  under sections  " 1 "

and  " 2",   six different authorities are identified as

justification for DCS '  withholding:  WAC 388- 14A- 2107 ;  RCW

26. 23. 120;   WAC 388- 14A- 2105;  RCW 74 . 04. 060;  WAC 388- 14A- 2135;

and RCW 74 . 04 . 062 .    CP 14 .

After Anderson had filed suit,  began asking questions,

in discovery,  about the withheld information,  and motioned
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for an order directing DCS to identify a specific claim

of exemption for each redaction made to his case- comment

printout,  DCS miserably attempted to address this violation

by revamping how it claimed withholdings exempt:  Besides

removing some of the redactions,  which it admits were

improperly applied,  DCS re- numbered the remaining redactions

and provided Anderson with an additional explanation for

redactions.     CP 70   [ Fifth Declaration of Kevin Anderson,

no.   8] .    Whereas before,  DCS claimed a redaction exempt

under  " 1 , 2"  of the list of redactions and the six

authorities identified there,  DCS '   revised case- comment

printout claims the same redaction exempt under  " 2"  of

the additional explanation for redactions where five

authorities are identified:  RCW 26. 23 . 120 ( 4 ) ;  RCW

74. 04. 060 ( 1 ) ( a) ;  RCW 26. 23. 120;  RCW 42. 56. 230 ( 1 ) ;   and WAC

388- 14A- 2105.    Obviously,   citing to five different

authorities for a single redaction is little better than

citing to six;   neither,  however,   comply with the PRA.

Instead of attempting to recast the inarguable facts

of the case,  DCS absurdly argues the law:  RCW 42. 56. 210 ( 3 ) ' s

mandate cannot serve as a basis for challenging any with-

holding or claim of•  exemption applied to Anderson' s

admittedly requested and admittedly non- exempt public record.

13



CP 44  [ Def ' s Resp to Plntf ' s Motion to Show Cause,   pg.

10,   lines 21 - 24 ] .

DCS '   incessant argument,  which does not even attempt

to address RCW 26. 23 . 120 ( 7 ) ,   fails miserably.    RCW

26. 23. 120 ( 7 )  provides :

Nothing in this section shall be construed as
limiting or restricting the effect of 42 . 56 . 070( 9 ) .
NOTHING IN THIS SECTION SHALL BE CONSTRUED TO PREVENT
THE DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION AND RECORDS IF ALL
DETAILS IDENTIFYING AN INDIVIDUAL ARE DELETED OR THE
INDIVIDUAL CONSENTS TO THE DISCLOSURE.   ( emphasis added)

This is not the language of a categorical exemption,

and Anderson,   by requesting his own records,   clearly

CONSENTS TO THE DISCLOSURE" .    DCS '   multi- year misrep-

resentation of this authority should be revisited at the

appropriate time:  A hearing on bad faith.

This Court should:   ( 1 )  Reverse the trial court' s

erroneous order on summary judgment;   ( 2)  Find DCS '   failure

to link each redaction applied to Anderson' s requested

case- comment printout with a specific claim of exemption

an ongoing violation of the PRA;   ( 3 )  Order DCS to comply

with RCW 42 . 56 . 210 ( 3 ) ' s mandate and individually identify

a specific statutory claim of exemption for each redaction

it applied to Anderson' s case- comment printout;  and  ( 4 )

Remand the case for further proceedings:  Twice,  DCS has

responded to Anderson' s discovery like a sick person
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responds to ipecac;   instead of facing more discovery and

the inevitable involuntary,   spasmodic production of

requested,   non- exempt public records,  DCS moved for summary

judgment months before the discovery cutoff;  Anderson needs

to continue discovery and,   eventually,  request in camera

review of the case- comment printout AFTER DCS properly

identifies a specific claim of exemption applicable to

each redaction applied thereto.

2.      DCS '   Withholding Of Admittedly Non- Exempt
Garnishment Information,   Until After Anderson

Had Filed Suit,  Violates the PRA.

DCS has served garnishment orders in Anderson' s support

case;   in doing so,   it has recorded the orders in his case

comments.    CP 70   [ Fifth Declaration of Kevin Anderson,

no.   8,  case- comment printout,   pgs.   10- 11 ] .    After Anderson

realized that he had not received notice of anygarnishment

actions in his case,  but in an apparently,   by the fact

that no action was ever taken,   rebuked effort to collect

on not- responded- to garnishment orders,  DCS had communicated

with a prosecutor regarding Anderson' s support case,

Anderson requested a complete printout of his case comments.

DCS,   in response to Anderson' s request,  withheld the gar-

nishment information found in Anderson ' s case comments
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by redacting the related entries.     CP 13   [ First Declaration

of Kevin Anderson,   no.   2,   case- comment printout,   pg.   11 ] .

However,  after Anderson had filed suit,   through discovery,

DCS admitted that the withheld garnishment information

is NOT exempted from disclosure,   to himself.    CP 70   [ Fifth

Declaration of Kevin Anderson,   no.   7,  Request for Admission,

no.   14] .    Consequently,   from July 1 ,   2013 until February

6,   2015,  when DCS produced the revised printout and released

the previously withheld garnishment information,  DCS

violated the PRA by denying Anderson' s requested access

to non- exempt public information:  Without his lawsuit,

Anderson would have not been able to access this requested

information.

Upon request,  DCS,  as an admitted agency under the

PRA,  must produce all requested,  non- exempt public records .

RCW 42. 56 . 080 provides :

Public records shall be available for inspection
and copying,   and agencies shall,  upon request for

identifiable public records,  make them promptly
available to any person. . . .    Agencies shall honor

requests received by mail for identifiable public
records unless exempted by provisions of this chapter.

The PRA,   in the clearest of terms,  mandates disclosure

of all requested,   identifiable,  and non- exempt public

records:   " Agencies must parse individual records and must

withhold only portions which come under specific exemption.
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Portions of records which do not come under a specific

exemption must be disclosed. "    Progressive Animal Welfare

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