NO. 47660-6

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KEVIN ANDERSON,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL & HEALTH SERVICES,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

ANNE MILLER Assistant Attorney General WSBA #48355 Social & Health Services Division P.O. Box 40124 Olympia, WA 98504-0124 (360) 586-6565 OID # 91021

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard Of Review For PRA Claims Decided On Summary Judgment

An appellate court reviews a grant of summary judgment de novo, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Cty. v. Spokane County*, 172 Wn.2d 702, 715, 261 P.3d 119

(2011). Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Sanders v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 827, 844, 240 P.3d 120 (2010). In reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the court construes facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.* at 844-45. This Court need not approve the reasoning of the trial court; it may affirm an order on summary judgment on any grounds supported by the record below. *Kinney v. Cook*, 150 Wn. App. 187, 192, 208 P.3d 1 (2009).

Questions of law, including an agency's obligations under the PRA, are reviewed de novo. *O'Neill v. City of Shoreline*, 170 Wn.2d 138, 240 P.3d 1149 (2010).

B. Summary Judgment Is Appropriate Because There Is No Genuine Issue of Material Fact That The Requested Records Are Exempt From Production Under The PRA By RCW 26.23.120

In his appeal of the trial court's summary judgment order, Mr. Anderson does not demonstrate that there is any dispute of material fact. Instead, he claims that the trial court erred in concluding, as a matter of law, that the DCS records at issue were exempt from PRA disclosure under RCW 26.23.120, 42.56.070, and 5.60.060. Mr. Anderson claims that the Department violated the PRA by (1) redacting DCS case

comments, (2) providing inadequate explanation for those redactions, and (3) withholding an e-mail between DCS and its attorney.

Mr. Anderson is incorrect. It is undisputed that all of the records at issue on appeal concern individuals who are subject to or are receiving DCS support enforcement services. Accordingly, RCW 26.23.120—not the PRA—governs the disclosure and production of the records. Where, as here, an "other statute" provides exclusive rules for disclosure of particular records, such records are wholly exempt from the PRA, and any alleged failure to produce them cannot serve as the basis for a PRA claim. *See Wright v. State*, 176 Wn. App. 585, 599, 309 P.3d 662 (2013), *review denied*, 179 Wn.2d 1021 (2014). As such, Mr. Anderson does not have a cause of action under the PRA, and this Court should affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment.

1. RCW 26.23.120 Is An "Other Statute" That Exempts Certain DCS Records From The PRA

The PRA generally requires agencies to make public records available for inspection by the public. RCW 42.56.070. The Act defines a public record broadly as "any writing containing information relating to the conduct of government or the performance of any governmental or proprietary function prepared, owned, used, or retained by any state or local agency regardless of physical form or characteristics." RCW 42.56.010(3).

Not all public records, however, are available to the public under the PRA. The requirement to make records available for public inspection does not apply to records that fall "within the specific exemptions of [the PRA] or other statute which exempts or prohibits disclosure of specific information or records." RCW 42.56.070(1) (emphasis added). Where an "other statute" prohibits disclosure of specific public records in their entirety, then the record or information may be withheld in its entirety, notwithstanding the PRA's redaction requirement. *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash.*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 262, 884 P.2d 592 (1994). Where an "other statute" applies, the PRA "is simply an improper means to acquire" the information it protects. *See id.* at 262 (discussing Trade Secrets Act).

The plain language, policy, and legislative history of RCW 26.23.120 demonstrate that it is an "other statute" that categorically exempts specific DCS records from disclosure under the PRA.

a. RCW 26.23.120 Unambiguously Exempts Confidential DCS Records From Disclosure Under the PRA

If the language of a statute is clear on its face, courts must give effect to its plain meaning and should assume the Legislature means what it says. *State v. Costich*, 152 Wn.2d 463, 470, 98 P.3d 795 (2004). The plain meaning of a statute is discerned by looking at "all that is said in the statute and related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question." *State v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1,

11-12, 43 P.3d 4 (2002).

RCW 26.23.120(1) provides:

Any information or records concerning individuals who owe a support obligation or for whom support enforcement services are being provided which are obtained or maintained by . . . the division of child support . . . shall be private and confidential and shall only be subject to public disclosure as provided in subsection (2) of this section.

RCW 26.23.120(1). RCW 26.23.120(2), in turn, grants the Department broad discretion to adopt rules governing the disclosure of DCS records.

The plain language of this statute categorically exempts all DCS records and information related to individuals who are subject to DCS child support enforcement services from the PRA. RCW 26.23.120 does not provide additional rules governing the disclosure of these DCS records; it provides the "only" permissible rules for disclosure. RCW 26.23.120(1). The PRA's rules for disclosure and production of the records, therefore, cannot apply to DCS records governed by RCW 26.23.120.

Although Washington courts have not specifically addressed whether RCW 26.23.120 is an "other statute" within the meaning of RCW 42.56.070, this Court has held that nearly identical language in chapter 13.50 RCW constitutes an "other statute" exemption. RCW 13.50.100(2) provides that specified records held by a juvenile justice or care agency "shall be released only pursuant to this section and RCW 13.50.010." (Emphasis added). Cf. RCW 26.23.120(1) (specified DCS records "shall only be subject to public disclosure as provided in subsection (2) of this section.") (emphasis added). Based on this language, this Court has repeatedly held that chapter 13.50 RCW is an "other statute" exemption from the PRA which "provides the exclusive means of obtaining" records to which it applies. Wright v. State, 176 Wn. App. 585, 596, 309 P.3d 662 (2013) (citing Deer v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 122 Wn. App. 84, 88, 93 P.3d 195 (2004)); In re Dependency of K.B., 150 Wn. App. 912, 920, 210 P.3d 330 (2009). Like RCW 13.50.100(2), the plain language of RCW 26.23.120 declares it to be the sole statute governing disclosure of specified DCS records, and therefore the PRA does not apply.

Mr. Anderson contends that RCW 26.23.120 does not exempt DCS records from the PRA because subsections (2) and (3) allow disclosure to select people under specified circumstances. Br. of Appellant at 22. But

this argument ignores the plain language of RCW 26.23.120, as well as this Court's precedents under RCW 13.50.100. Records governed by RCW 26.23.120 are never subject to disclosure under the PRA. Rather, under RCW 26.23.120(2), the Department may only disclose DCS records to particular individuals who meet statutory and regulatory requirements. This is not equivalent to the PRA's broad decree in favor of public disclosure; this is a narrowly tailored statute that protects parent privacy by separately regulating the disclosure of sensitive, confidential records and information. As this Court has repeatedly held in the context of juvenile justice records, where an "other statute" provides the exclusive means of obtaining records, the PRA is an improper means for obtaining those records. *Wright*, 176 Wn. App. 585; *Deer*, 122 Wn. App. 84; *K.B.*, 150 Wn. App. 912.

Mr. Anderson also asserts that "RCW 26.23.120(7) incorporates DCS records into the PRA." Br. of Appellant at 23, 14. RCW 26.23.120(7) provides:

Nothing in this section shall be construed as limiting or restricting the effect of RCW 42.56.070(9). Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent the disclosure of information and records if all details identifying an individual are deleted or the individual consents to disclosure.

RCW 26.23.120(7). Mr. Anderson's interpretation of subsection (7) would render the clear language of subsection (1) meaningless.

Provisos within a statute operate as limitations upon or exceptions to the general terms of the statute to which they are appended and as such should be strictly construed with any doubt to be resolved in favor of general provisions, rather than exceptions. *State v. Wright*, 84 Wn.2d 645, 652, 529 P.2d 453 (1974).

The general rule of RCW 26.23.120(1) is unambiguous: DCS records related to individual support enforcement cases "shall be private and confidential and shall only be subject to public disclosure as provided in [RCW 26.23.120]." If, as Mr. Anderson argues, subsection (7) "incorporates" DCS records into the PRA, anyone could access a specific, known individual's confidential DCS records. For example, a noncustodial parent convicted of molesting his child could ask for a de-identified copy of the custodial parent's records and the Department would have to turn those records over, including the custodial parent's address, her communications with the Department, and any other non-identifying information in the records. In fact, anyone could access those records, for any purpose. Under the PRA, which Mr. Anderson says applies to these DCS records, the identity of the requestor, the purpose of the request, and the fact that he already knows the identity of the custodial

parent would not matter. The Department would be required to produce the records with the custodial parent's name and other identifiers redacted. *See Bainbridge Island Police Guild v. City of Puyallup*, 172 Wn.2d 398, 416-418, 259 P.3d 190 (2011).

This cannot be the result intended by the legislature. To the contrary, the identity of the person seeking information and the purpose for which information is sought is central to RCW 26.23.120 and related rules. *See, e.g.*, RCW 26.23.120(3)(b) (allowing disclosure *to the subject* of the records under certain circumstances); (d) (allowing disclosure *to the subject* of the records under certain circumstances); (d) (allowing disclosure *to the subject* of the records under certain circumstances); (d) (allowing disclosure *to the parties* to an action for purposes relating to the child support order); WAC 388-14A-2105(2) ("DCS discloses information and records only to a person or entity listed in this section or in RCW 26.23.120, and only for a specific purpose allowed by state or federal law."). Mr. Anderson's interpretation renders RCW 26.23.120's confidentiality rule meaningless and should be rejected by this Court.

On the other hand, when subsection (7) is read in context, it is clear that it is merely one rule within RCW 26.23.120's system of disclosure. It does not obliterate the general rule that RCW 26.23.120, not the PRA, governs disclosure of DCS records. Rather, like every other subsection of RCW 26.23.120, subsection (7) serves a discrete purpose. Mr. Anderson offers no reason that the first and second sentences of subsection (7) should be divorced to have two separate, unrelated meanings. The first sentence of subsection (7) prohibits public offices and officials from disclosing lists of individuals for commercial purposes. Read in context with the first sentence, the second sentence of subsection (7) allows for disclosure of aggregated DCS information when the records can be de-identified or an individual whose information is disclosed consents to disclosure.

Subsection (7) has no application here. Mr. Anderson's request for his case comments and the specified e-mail was not a request for aggregated information. Nor was it possible for the Department to de-identify the records for release to Mr. Anderson. Mr. Anderson is well aware of the identity of the mother of his child, and removing her name would not protect the confidentiality of her home address, her contact information, or her communications with the Department.

Finally, Mr. Anderson argues that DCS's "most wanted" website demonstrates that DCS records are not confidential under RCW 26.23.120. Br. of Appellant, 23. Mr. Anderson did not submit any evidence regarding this website to the trial court, and the record contains no reference to it. Under the circumstances, this Court should disregard Mr. Anderson's discussion of the website. *See* RAP 9.12 (limiting appellate review of an order granting summary judgment to evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court). Regardless, Mr. Anderson's argument lacks merit. RCW 26.23.120(2) grants the Department broad authority to adopt rules that specify what information is confidential, what can be disclosed, and to whom. Accordingly, the Department adopted rules governing a child support "most wanted" website. WAC 388-14A-4600, -4605. These rules are within the Department's regulatory authority and do not affect the general rule of confidentiality in RCW 26.23.120.

In sum, this Court need not construe the meaning of RCW 26.23.120(1). The statute's language is clear. DCS records related to individual DCS cases may only be disclosed pursuant to RCW 26.23.120, and the PRA's disclosure rules do not apply to such records.

b. Exempting DCS Records From Disclosure Under The PRA Is Consistent With Legislative Objectives Of The PRA And RCW 26.23.120

Reading RCW 26.23.120 as an "other statute" that exempts DCS records from the PRA also comports with the objective of PRA exemptions generally, which "is to exempt from public inspection those categories of public records most capable of causing substantial damage to the privacy rights of citizens." *Deer*, 122 Wn. App. at 90.

RCW 26.23.120 exempts a particularly sensitive class of information and records from disclosure under the PRA. It applies not to

all records held by DCS, but specifically to records and information "concerning individuals who owe a support obligation or for whom support enforcement services are being provided." RCW 26.23.120(1). In other words, the statute protects DCS records that contain private, personal information related to individual parties to child support enforcement cases. *See, e.g.*, CP at 227. Further evidence that these records contain particularly sensitive information is found in federal law, which conditions receipt of federal funds for child support enforcement activities on states implementing "safeguards, applicable to all confidential information handled by the state agency, that are designed to protect the privacy rights of the parties [to support enforcement cases]." 42 U.S.C. §§ 654(26), 655(a)(1)(A); *see also* 45 C.F.R. § 303.21 (generally prohibiting disclosure of information relating to specific individuals for purposes other than administration of a child support enforcement program).

The legislative history of RCW 26.23.120 also suggests that the legislature intended to protect the confidentiality of DCS records through an "other statute" exemption to the PRA. The legislature enacted RCW 26.23.120 in 1987, the same year the legislature added the "other statute" exemption to the PRA. Laws of 1987, ch. 435, § 12; Laws of 1987, ch. 403 § 3. The legislature would have been acutely aware of the interaction between this type of "other statute" and the PRA, because it

had recently amended the existing language of RCW 42.56.070(1) (formerly codified at RCW 42.17.260) to require agencies to make public records available "unless the record falls within [specific exemptions], or other statute which exempts or prohibits disclosure of specific information or records." Id. (emphasis added). RCW 26.23.120 is one such "other statute which . . . prohibits disclosure of specific information [and] records."

2. There Is No Factual Dispute: The Requested Case Comments And E-mail Fall Within The Category Of DCS Records That RCW 26.23.120 Exempts From The PRA

Mr. Anderson claims that the Department's response to his request for case comments and a specific e-mail relating to his DCS case violated the PRA. The only material fact to the PRA claim is whether the e-mail and case comments fall within the category of records exempt from the PRA by RCW 26.23.120. In order for records or information to be exempt from the PRA by RCW 26.23.120, they must (1) be "obtained or maintained by" DCS and (2) relate to "individuals who owe a support obligation or for whom support enforcement services are being provided."

Mr. Anderson has never disputed that the case comments and e-mail are maintained by DCS and concern individuals who owe a support obligation or for whom support enforcement services are being provided. First, a "case comment history" is a compilation of notes taken by DCS workers related to a specific DCS case. CP at 163, 229. Such records necessarily concern individuals who owe a support obligation or for whom support enforcement services are being provided.

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